Self-Organization and the Self-Assembling Process in Tissue Engineering

Kyriacos A. Athanasiou, Rajalakshmanan Eswaramoorthy,* Pasha Hadidi,* and Jerry C. Hu

Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of California, Davis, California 95616; email: athanasiou@ucdavis.edu

Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng. 2013. 15:115-36

First published online as a Review in Advance on May 20, 2013

The Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering is online at bioeng.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-bioeng-071812-152423

Copyright © 2013 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

*These authors contributed equally to this work.

Keywords

tissue engineering, regenerative medicine, scaffoldless, self-organization, self-assembling process, clinical translation

Abstract

In recent years, the tissue engineering paradigm has shifted to include a new and growing subfield of scaffoldless techniques that generate self-organizing and self-assembling tissues. This review aims to cogently describe this relatively new research area, with special focus on applications toward clinical use and research models. Particular emphasis is placed on providing clear definitions of self-organization and the self-assembling process, as delineated from other scaffoldless techniques in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Significantly, during formation, self-organizing and selfassembling tissues display biological processes similar to those that occur in vivo. These processes help lead to the recapitulation of native tissue morphological structure and organization. Notably, functional properties of these engineered tissues, some of which are already in clinical trials, also approach native tissue values. This review endeavors to provide a cohesive summary of work in this field and to highlight the potential of self-organization and the self-assembling process for providing cogent solutions to currently intractable problems in tissue engineering.

Contents

1. INTRODUCTION AND MOTIVATION	116
1.1. Research in Traditional Tissue Engineering	116
1.2. Advantages of Scaffoldless Tissue Engineering Technologies	117
1.3. Defining Self-Organization and the Self-Assembling Process in	
Tissue Engineering	118
2. MECHANISMS OF SELF-ORGANIZATION AND THE	
SELF-ASSEMBLING PROCESS	120
2.1. Tissue Fusion in Self-Organizing Tissues	120
2.2. Energy Minimization During the Self-Assembling Process	121
3. FUNCTIONAL PROPERTIES OF SELF-ORGANIZING	
AND SELF-ASSEMBLING TISSUES	122
3.1. Self-Organization in Tissue Engineering	124
3.2. The Self-Assembling Process in Tissue Engineering	126
4. PROGRESS TOWARD CLINICAL APPLICATION OF	
SELF-ORGANIZING AND SELF-ASSEMBLING TISSUES	127
4.1. Preclinical Models	127
4.2. Clinical Trials	129
5. USE OF SELF-ORGANIZING AND SELF-ASSEMBLING	
TISSUES IN RESEARCH MODELS	129
6. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	130

1. INTRODUCTION AND MOTIVATION

Tissue engineering, developed by combining knowledge from molecular biology, materials science, biomechanics, and medicine, intends to produce tissue constructs to repair or replace native tissues compromised by trauma, pathology, or age. Central to this translational endeavor is the use of scaffoldless approaches that have allowed the fabrication of tissues for use in a plethora of applications, both clinical and experimental. The objective of this review is to describe advances in scaffoldless tissue engineering, concentrating primarily on self-organization and the self-assembling process. Clear delineations are provided between self-organization and the selfassembling process in tissue engineering, and limitations associated with the traditional scaffoldbased tissue engineering paradigm are also presented. A description of the underlying mechanisms of these two important processes is provided, followed by a review of their application in various tissues and organs. Subsequently, the translational and clinical applications of self-organizing and self-assembling tissues are detailed, with particular emphasis on challenges to overcome before therapeutic use. Tissues engineered employing scaffoldless approaches can also be used for experimental applications, such as drug screening and injury models. As self-organization and the self-assembling process exhibit high potential for clinical translation and other uses, continued research in this area is clearly warranted.

1.1. Research in Traditional Tissue Engineering

The components of the traditional tissue engineering triad are cells, signals, and scaffolds. Cells, which are necessary to form tissues, need to reside in significant numbers within scaffolds. Primary cells are desirable for tissue engineering, as their phenotype is relatively unaltered, but isolation

of a large number of primary cells is challenging (1). Accordingly, tissue engineering strategies increasingly incorporate passaged cells, as well as adult, embryonic, or induced pluripotent stem cells because of their self-renewal capabilities (2). Signals or stimuli (e.g., mechanical, electrical, or biochemical) are also important in driving these cells to produce the tissues of interest. Different combinations of stimuli (e.g. bioreactors, growth factors) have not yet produced tissue with near-native properties, but recent work has identified additional beneficial stimuli for neotissue formation, such as enzymes and small signaling molecules (3, 4).

Scaffold development may be the most widely studied area of the traditional tissue engineering paradigm. Exogenous scaffolds are useful for providing structure to a developing tissue and allowing cells to adhere, proliferate, differentiate, and most importantly, secrete extracellular matrix (ECM) in a three-dimensional fashion. Because cells respond differently to substrates of different stiffness, manipulating scaffold stiffness can be a useful technique to control cell behavior (5). Scaffold porosity can be controlled to enhance cell infiltration (6). Also, it is important to note that for certain tissue engineering problems, scaffolds are necessary. For example, anchorage-dependent cells require attachment to a substrate for optimal viability and function (5, 7).

Tissue engineering approaches that use scaffolds are attractive for additional reasons. For example, in applications in which immediate load bearing is necessitated, the presence of an exogenous scaffold may provide the required mechanical integrity. Scaffolds also facilitate the tailoring of mechanical anisotropy. Furthermore, scaffolds afford the ability to precisely control the release of growth factors and other signals into the surrounding milieu. This potentially gives a biomedical engineer the ability to control the surrounding microenvironment long after construct implantation (8). Finally, scaffolds not only enjoy a shelf life that is typically greater than an engineered biological construct, but those without cells also face lower regulatory hurdles (9). Therefore, depending on the type of tissue being engineered and the approach to implantation, scaffold-based tissue engineering strategies may be preferable.

However, issues with scaffold-based tissue engineering hinder its use in certain applications. Scaffold degradation is rarely synchronized to neotissue formation, making remodeling and integration difficult, thus compromising functional properties. Furthermore, toxicity and immunogenicity due to scaffold creation, seeding, or degradation are of concern (10). The presence of a scaffold may also alter the phenotype of cells that come into contact with it (11). Finally, scaffolds may be directly detrimental, as they may physically obstruct mechanotransduction, for example via stress shielding (12). Although tissue engineering is still a young field, problems associated with the use of scaffolds, and strong desire for clinical and experimental application, have motivated research into alternate tissue engineering approaches.

1.2. Advantages of Scaffoldless Tissue Engineering Technologies

Over the past three decades, a spectrum of approaches in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine have been developed. In particular, various scaffoldless technologies, taking advantage of cells' natural ability to synthesize tissue and respond to signals, have also appeared. Scaffoldless tissue engineering approaches include traditional techniques, such as pellet (13) and aggregate culture (14); self-organization techniques, such as bioprinting and cell-sheet engineering; and the self-assembling process of articular cartilage and fibrocartilage. Thus, the term scaffoldless tissue engineering refers to any platform that does not require cell seeding or adherence within an exogenous, three-dimensional material.

Scaffoldless approaches demonstrate certain advantages over traditional scaffold-based approaches by overcoming limitations associated with the use of scaffolds (**Figure 1**). First, scaffold-less tissue engineering does not involve the exposure of cells to the harsh processing requirements



Scaffoldless tissue engineering displays significant advantages from construct formation to implantation of tissue.

of scaffold-based constructs (e.g. spinner shear, elevated temperatures, toxic polymerizing chemicals), a difference that leads to increased cell viability (15). During construct formation, scaffoldless tissue engineering provides a biomimetic microenvironment allowing for a high degree of cellcell communication and the maintenance of cell phenotype, both of which can increase ECM production (16–19). Additionally, without an intervening scaffold, tissue synthesis and remodeling may occur more readily and without the need for scaffold degradation. After implantation, scaffoldless tissues release no toxic degradation by-products and hold no potential for scaffoldbased immunogenicity (20). Once implanted in vivo, mechanotransduction occurs directly upon scaffoldless tissues, and thus stress shielding is avoided. Finally, the high cellularity and relative naiveté of scaffoldless tissues result in greater potential for integration and maturation after implantation of tissue constructs in vivo. Each of these advantages underscores an essential step in the process of tissue synthesis for clinical translation. Thus, scaffoldless technologies represent significant advances in tissue engineering, especially with regard to clinical applications.

1.3. Defining Self-Organization and the Self-Assembling Process in Tissue Engineering

The term self-assembly has been used to describe many distinct phenomena in science and engineering, including crystal growth, protein folding, and even galaxy formation (21, 22). The study of self-assembly is not formalized, and thus the definition for this topic may vary slightly across different fields (23). In general, however, self-assembly refers to systems in which order results from disorder in a spontaneous manner, that is, without the use of external energy or force (23).

Correspondingly, there is ambiguity surrounding the use of the terminology self-assembly, or self-assembling process, with regard to tissue engineering (24). The ultimate goal in tissue engineering is the recapitulation of the native tissue formation that generally occurs spontaneously in vivo through multiple biological processes (e.g. differential adhesion, tissue fusion). Thus, the development of a self-assembling process, or other technology resulting in spontaneous tissue formation, remains appealing to researchers. Confusingly, the tissue engineering literature has inconsistently applied the terms self-assembly and self-organization without definition (25–30). Despite fundamental differences among them, forms of aggregate culture, bioprinting, and other culture systems have all been dubbed self-assembly and self-organization. Therefore, this review defines these terms, specifically as they apply in tissue engineering (**Figure 2**). In order to clearly



The self-assembling process and self-organization are subsets within scaffoldless tissue engineering.

define self-assembly and self-organization as they apply in tissue engineering, this review strives to understand the differentiating characteristics of various tissue engineering culture systems. It also elucidates the self-assembling process as a novel tissue engineering technique with respect to underlying biological processes and characteristics of self-assembling tissues.

To clarify the differences between self-organization and the self-assembling process in the relatively young field of tissue engineering, it is useful to consult existing distinctions between the two terms as used in established fields of study. In physics, chemistry, and biology, definitions of these terms are based on the field of thermodynamics, which states that self-organization describes a process in which order appears when external energy or forces are input into the system (31, 32). By contrast, for a self-assembling process, no external forces are required to promote order (23). Succinctly put, self-organization and the self-assembling process occur in open versus closed systems, respectively (23).

Thus, self-organization in tissue engineering can be defined as a subset of techniques within scaffoldless tissue engineering, which produce tissues that demonstrate organization upon the application of external forces. Self-organizing constructs can display gross morphology or structure recapitulative of native tissues. Self-organization techniques have the ability to produce engineered tissues of up to several centimeters, in the geometry of native tissues, as seen in cylindrically shaped tendon, bone, and nerve constructs (29, 33, 34). Additionally, self-organizing tissues can give rise to structures and/or regional variations found in native tissues, such as intima, media, and adventitia layer segregation in engineered blood vessels or optic cup and neurosensory tissue formation in engineered retina (35, 25).

With the above definition in mind, bioprinting and cell-sheet engineering can be categorized as examples of self-organization. These techniques use external forces, such as physical manipulation or thermal input, to direct cell position, after which cell-driven remodeling (e.g. tissue fusion, described in Section 2.1) occurs (28, 36). Bioprinting first places cells into a templated pattern

and then takes advantage of the ability of these cells to secrete ECM and fuse into a continuous tissue with the appropriate morphology (28). Similarly, in cell-sheet engineering, separate cell sheets are first seeded in monolayers and then detached with the use of heat. Afterward, these monolayers are stacked or rolled and undergo remodeling and fusion into patches or tubes of tissue with clinically relevant sizes (36). Underlying these examples are the biological mechanisms by which self-organization takes place, most notably the process of tissue fusion (see Section 2.1), which is also observed during tissue development in vivo. Furthermore, some self-organizing tissues possess appreciable functional properties, with values at times comparable to those of their native counterparts. Thus, the relevance and significance of self-organization techniques in tissue engineering are that highly biomimetic constructs, which are more easily translated toward applications, are produced.

By applying the characteristics of self-assembly in thermodynamics, the self-assembling process in tissue engineering can be defined as a scaffoldless technology that produces tissues that demonstrate spontaneous organization without external forces; this occurs via the minimization of free energy through cell-to-cell interactions. As in thermodynamics, the difference between the terms self-assembling process and self-organization in tissue engineering is whether external energy or forces are introduced into the system. Although both are subsets within scaffoldless tissue engineering, the self-assembling process is unique in that organization arises without the input of external forces (**Figure 2**). Self-assembling tissues possess the following specific characteristics: (a) the use of a nonadherent substrate to minimize tissue free energy, (b) a sequential set of phases that recapitulate native tissue formation, (c) tissue constructs with sufficient size and morphology to be clinically relevant, and (d) functional properties with values comparable to those of native tissue. Notably, self-assembling tissues follow the differential adhesion hypothesis, a fundamental mechanism of developmental biology. Thus, self-assembling tissues are highly biomimetic and comprise promising candidates for clinical application.

2. MECHANISMS OF SELF-ORGANIZATION AND THE SELF-ASSEMBLING PROCESS

Native tissue formation and maturation are complex processes that often take months or years of coordinated signaling. One challenge in in vitro tissue engineering is that some of the natural biological processes driving in vivo tissue formation have been absent. Prominent among these is differential adhesion, which is responsible for the successful formation of a variety of tissues during morphogenesis (37). Thus, it is in the interest of tissue engineers to pursue technologies that more directly replicate native tissue development. The self-assembling process and self-organization both exhibit fundamental biological processes that naturally occur in vivo (**Figure 3**).

2.1. Tissue Fusion in Self-Organizing Tissues

Tissue fusion comprises a series of events in developmental biology that are involved, for example, in neural tube formation, skeletal patterning, and cardiovascular development (38). Tissue fusion has been defined as the process by which two or more isolated cell populations make contact and adhere (38). This includes cell-to-cell contact and/or cell-to-matrix contact of two previously separated cell populations. In addition, tissue fusion includes matrix-to-matrix contact and ECM remodeling.

Interestingly, a biological process similar to tissue fusion also occurs in self-organizing and self-assembling tissues (**Figure 3***a*). For example, self-organization approaches in engineering musculoskeletal, cardiovascular, neurosensory, and digestive tissues all display a fusion process in



Self-organizing tissues, as well as self-assembling tissues, undergo the process of tissue fusion by various means (*a*). Additionally, self-assembling tissues follow the principle of energy minimization via cell-to-cell interaction (*b*).

which previously isolated cells and/or ECM converge into a continuous whole (25, 29–33, 39, 40). Self-organizing optic and liver tissues are engineered such that micromasses fuse into a continuous neotissue (25, 30). Self-organizing nerve, bone, tendon, and ligament tissues all rearrange into cylindrical tubes following seeding, concomitant with tissue fusion of opposite ends of an initial cell sheet (29, 33, 39, 40). Bioprinting and cell-sheet engineering, as self-organization technologies, also display tissue fusion. Bioprinted tissue solutions fuse together over time to form sheets, tubes, or other intended morphological features, after deposition onto a substrate (41). Similarly, cell-sheet engineering of corneal, cardiac, and vascular tissues involves the fusion of distinct layers of ECM to form one continuous tissue (35, 42, 43). These processes may occur once the cell sheets or bioprinted solutions are directed into contact with one another by the use of external forces. Finally, self-assembling cartilage and fibrocartilage also display tissue fusion, as separate cells eventually converge into a continuous tissue (44, 45). Therefore, self-organizing tissues and self-assembling tissues both exhibit a process reminiscent of the tissue fusion found in native tissue development.

2.2. Energy Minimization During the Self-Assembling Process

In various instances and stages of tissue development, cells interact to minimize the overall free energy of the tissue they comprise, resulting in several phenomena including cell sorting. When biologists observed the sorting behavior of dissociated germ layer cells, models to describe

this behavior began to be formulated. The most successful of these is the differential adhesion hypothesis, which states that a tissue will tend to minimize the adhesive free energy of its cell populations via cell-to-cell binding (37, 46). Accordingly, a mass of cells may be conceptualized as a liquid that works to minimize its surface tension (known as tissue surface tension). Tissue surface tension will determine whether these cells sort to the center or periphery when mixed with another cell population to form a heterogeneous tissue, with cells from the tissue of higher surface tension maximizing their intercellular adhesion and, thus, being enveloped (47). The cell-to-cell adhesion molecules thought to be primarily responsible for differential adhesion are cadherins, which are calcium-dependent transmembrane proteins. Indeed, tissue surface tension has been shown to be linearly correlated to the number of cadherin molecules present, although theoretically any cell-to-cell adhesion molecule may drive differential adhesion (37).

Although the differential adhesion hypothesis is the most widely accepted model of these phenomena, recently, another explanation, the differential interfacial tension hypothesis, has been gaining recognition (26, 48–51). This explanation also conceptualizes tissue as a liquid that acts to reduce its surface tension, but it highlights the possibility that forces generated by cellular components such as the membrane and cytoskeleton may dictate cell sorting. The differential adhesion hypothesis and the differential interfacial tension hypothesis may be related. The underlying driving tendency of cells in a tissue to minimize their free energy does not change between these theories (49). Recent work has brought these two hypotheses together, showing that induced germ layer cells display differential binding affinities as well as different cell cortical tensions (48). Alongside of this, it has also been reported that intracellular cytoskeletal reorganization can occur as a result of cadherin-mediated adhesion (52) and that tissue surface tensions measured from actomyosin contractility outweigh those generated by cadherin interactions (53, 54). Thus, it is reasonable to speculate that energy minimization in a developing tissue may be due to initial cadherin interactions leading to downstream signaling and cytoskeleton reorganization, resulting in cell aggregation and sorting (55).

The self-assembling process works by the principle of free energy minimization (Figure 3b). During the self-assembling process, cells are seeded upon a nonadhesive surface (44, 45). This prevents cell attachment and thus compels cells in a developing neotissue to spontaneously adhere to one another in order to minimize free energy. Consequently, immunohistochemical staining, at 1 day and 4 days after cell seeding, displays extensive N-cadherin-mediated cell-to-cell binding, which occurs without the influence of external forces (56). This mimics the process of mesenchymal condensation, in which N-cadherin levels increase dramatically prior to chondrogenesis (57). Accordingly, the first characteristic of the self-assembling process is the use of a nonadherent mold to minimize construct free energy. Energy minimization will also lead to cell sorting, and indeed, groups utilizing the self-assembling process to investigate cell sorting have seen the segregation of endothelial cells and fibroblasts seeded in agarose wells (26). Furthermore, this sorting mechanism and the self-assembling process have also been seen to depend on the cytoskeleton (58-60). Therefore, differential interfacial tension may also be relevant to this culture system, as interfacial tensions are generated in part by the cytoskeleton (49, 50, 61). In summary, the self-assembling process in tissue engineering follows the principle of free energy minimization without external forces, leading to the recapitulation of mechanisms relevant to native tissue development.

3. FUNCTIONAL PROPERTIES OF SELF-ORGANIZING AND SELF-ASSEMBLING TISSUES

The techniques involved in self-organization and the self-assembling process vary by tissue and also within tissues, but all display promising results for tissue engineering (**Table 1**). As

	Tissue engineering			
Tissue/organ	method	Properties attained	Translational status	Key References
Vasculature	Self-organization by cell sheet engineering	Average burst pressure of 3,490 mm Hg (465 kPa)	Phase I clinical studies	L'Heureux et al. 1998 (35), Gauvin et al. 2010 (72), Mironov & Kasyanov 2009 (73), Gwyther et al. 2011 (75), McAllister et al. 2009 (77), Haraguchi et al. 2012 (78), L'Heureux et al. 2007 (105)
	Bioprinting	Engineered vascular tube of 900 µm diameter with 300 µm wall thickness	In vitro studies	Norotte et al. 2009 (41)
Articular cartilage	Self-assembling process	~3-mm thick constructs with compressive aggregate modulus of 280 kPa; tensile stiffness at 2 MPa	Preclinical animal studies	Responte et al. 2012 (4), Hu & Athanasiou 2006 (44), Elder & Athanasiou 2009 (99)
	Pellet culture	~1-mm spherical construct	In vitro studies	Zhang et al. 2004 (13)
	Aggregate culture	~500-µm spherical construct	In vitro studies	Furukawa et al. 2003 (14)
Meniscus	Self-assembling process	Compressive instantaneous modulus of up to 800 kPa and tensile stiffness of up to 3 MPa (tensile modulus in circumferential and radial directions of up to 3 MPa and 1.5 MPa, respectively)	Preclinical animal studies	Hoben et al. 2007 (45), Aufderheide & Athanasiou 2007 (74), Huey & Athanasiou 2011 (96), Huey & Athanasiou 2011 (97)
Eye	Self-organization	Transparent tissue of 55-µm thickness	Preclinical studies	Eiraku et al. 2011 (25), Nishida et al. 2004 (36), Proulx et al. 2010 (42), Zhang et al. 2011 (85), Nishida et al. 2004 (110)
Tendon and ligament	Self-organization	Tangent modulus of 15 to 17 MPa	Preclinical animal studies	Calve et al. 2004 (33), Hairfield-Stein et al. 2007 (63), Huang et al. 2005 (64), Calve et al. 2010 (66)
Liver	Self-organization	Albumin production; prolonged secretion of the oxidation enzyme cytochrome P450; production of α1-antitrypsin	In vitro studies	Tzanakakis et al. 2001 (59), Koide et al. 1990 (86), Landry et al. 1985 (88), Hansen et al. 1998 (90), Ohashi et al. 2007 (91)
Nerve	Self-organization	Conduction velocities of 12.5 m/s	In vitro studies	Baltich et al. 2010 (29), Adams et al. 2012 (82)

Table 1	Functional properties of tis	sue constructs engineered by self-organization an	d the self-assembling process
	PP		

intrinsically scaffoldless platforms, self-organization and the self-assembling process hold a variety of advantages (as detailed in Section 1.2 above). Several of these, such as a biomimetic microenvironment and the ability to respond to mechanical signals, aid in the development of neotissue functional properties. Consequently, self-organizing and self-assembling tissues have been assessed for various functional properties such as mechanical strength, electrical conductivity, and biochemical secretion rate.

3.1. Self-Organization in Tissue Engineering

As explained above, self-organization in tissue engineering refers to engineered tissues that exhibit spontaneous generation of distinct structures or gross morphology reminiscent of native tissues without exogenous scaffolds. It is distinct from the self-assembling process in that external manipulation occurs (e.g., bioprinting of cells to their appropriate positions, thermal variation to detach a cell sheet). Partly owing to the advantages conveyed by scaffoldless tissue engineering, substantial functional properties have been reported with many self-organizing tissues. Self-organization in tissue engineering has been used, through several different methods, to engineer a wide variety of tissues from various systems of the body (e.g., the musculoskeletal, cardiovascular, neurosensory, and digestive systems).

Several tissues from the musculoskeletal system have been engineered using approaches that display self-organization. In general, self-organization in musculoskeletal tissues such as bone, tendon, ligament, and skeletal muscle starts with monolayer culture of cells in protein-coated (e.g. laminin) Sylgard plates with external anchors. These anchors are used to exert tensile forces on the seeded monolayer as it contracts and rolls up, leading to the formation of a cylindrically shaped tissue (33, 39, 62–64). Expression of cadherins and other adhesion molecules during self-organization of musculoskeletal tissues is uncharacterized and open to further research. Additionally, the role of the various coatings on self-organization is unclear; it is possible that coating degradation throughout culture exposes the initial monolayer to a nonadherent surface. Thus, it is conceivable that minimization of free energy will occur through the use of a nonadherent surface, but this needs to be examined.

Self-organizing musculoskeletal tissues display morphological and structural features, as well as some mechanical functionality, reminiscent of those in corresponding native tissues. In self-organizing bone, localization of osteocytes in lacunae, formation of lumen-containing structures similar to blood vessels, and development of cellular areas similar to bone marrow all occur (39, 65). Self-organizing tendons and ligaments exhibit collagen fiber alignment reminiscent of that in native tissues (66). Self-organizing skeletal muscle displays myoblast fusion into myotubes and the formation of muscle-specific structures (e.g. hexagonal architecture and Z lines) (64). Additionally, both fast-twitch and slow-twitch muscle subtypes, with relative relaxation and contraction rates, have been engineered (67).

Engineered musculoskeletal tissues also maintain functional properties. For instance, selforganizing ligaments and tendons exhibit tangent modulus values of 15 to 17 MPa, concomitant with abundant collagen I and III staining (33, 63). Similarly, self-organizing muscle has been reported to exert a specific force of up to 140 N/mm², which is within the range displayed by native tissue, during culture and stimulation within an electrical bioreactor (68). Self-organizing bone with tangent modulus of up to 29 MPa and compressive strength surpassing 1.5 MPa after 6 weeks of culture has also been reported (39, 69). By comparison, scaffoldless bone culture on an orbital shaker (i.e., aggregate culture) does not form large macroscopic tissue and thus is not mechanically testable (70). However, mechanical properties of native bone can be much greater, with compressive stiffness reaching hundreds of MPa and compressive strength in the range of tens of MPa (71). Therefore, self-organizing musculoskeletal tissues demonstrate promising results, especially with regard to tissue morphology and functional properties, and more research should be conducted to elucidate the potential of these technologies.

Cardiovascular tissue engineering has benefitted from self-organization in tissue engineering, especially in the synthesis of vascular constructs, where a paradigm shift from polymeric scaffoldbased to cell-based scaffoldless techniques has occurred over the past decade (27). Self-organizing vasculature has been demonstrated via the use of cell-sheet engineering, in which high confluence monolayers are harvested as a whole sheet, and external forces are then introduced by rolling the cell sheet on a mandrel (35, 72). During culture, these initially separate layers spontaneously fuse to form a tube structure (35). Self-organizing vasculature mimics the layered organization of native blood vessels, with an inner endothelial lining, a medial smooth muscle cell layer, and an outer adventitia rich in ECM (73). These self-organizing constructs can reach tensile moduli of up to 2 MPa and are capable of withstanding burst pressures of up to 465 kPa (73). Another reported technique uses high-density seeding of smooth muscle cells in annular agarose wells, similar to the ring-shaped mold used in self-assembling meniscus-shaped fibrocartilage (74-76). External forces are then introduced when these tissues are manually aligned, after which they fuse into vascular tubes, which display tensile strengths and moduli of up to 500 kPa and 2 MPa, respectively (75). Because of their functional properties, these vascular constructs have great clinical potential, and currently some of them are in clinical trials (77).

In cardiac tissue engineering, one technique stacks multiple layers of cardiac muscle sheets together, before this construct self-organizes into a continuous tissue (78). Another example is bioprinting, which utilizes layer-by-layer deposition of cells onto a substrate to place cell aggregates in close proximity, eventually leading to tissue fusion (79). Self-organizing cardiac muscle displays native tissue structures, electrical conductivity, contraction rates similar to native tissues, and the ability to continuously contract without fatigue (78, 80, 81). Although self-organizing cardiac muscle during construct formation, if any, are not characterized. Additionally, the use of external forces in engineering of self-organizing cardiovascular tissues makes them distinct from the self-assembling process in tissue engineering. Owing to its high potential for clinical translation and simple manufacturing procedures, self-organization may be a suitable platform to solve problems associated with cardiovascular tissues.

Self-organizing neurosensory tissues, such as optic cup, cornea, and nerve, display structural features or functional properties similar to those of native tissues. Akin to tendon, self-organizing nerve starts with monolayer culture of tendon fibroblasts on laminin-coated Sylgard plates, with subsequent seeding of neural cells. This culture then contracts and fuses into a tube-shaped tissue around two anchors, with an inner nerve cell layer and an outer fibroblast layer (29). It has been shown that self-organizing nerve has conduction velocities (12.5 m/s) comparable to those of rat neonatal sciatic nerve (29). Furthermore, these self-organizing constructs have also been cocultured in association with glial-like cells differentiated from adipose-derived stem cells, although conduction velocities were not measured (82). Complex self-organizing optic tissues have also been engineered. In these, formation of a distinct optic cup is followed by segregation from stratified neurosensory tissue (25). Self-organizing cornea is another example, in which corneal epithelial cells, limbal epithelial cells, and corneal fibroblasts have been used to recreate the layered structure of native cornea (83). Seeding of corneal endothelial and epithelial cells on each side of a self-organizing fibroblast layer leads to tissue fusion (42). Although self-organizing optic tissues show promise, especially with regard to the recapitulation of native tissue organization, little work has been done to assess tissue functional properties. To compare, other scaffoldless cultures of optic retina and cornea using rotational culture and centrifugation, respectively, have also been pursued, but no functional properties have been characterized (84, 85). Therefore, future research in neurosensory engineering should focus on the quantification of tissue function.

The liver, as part of the digestive system, has been the topic of numerous tissue engineering approaches. Self-organization of liver tissues results in biochemical secretion of several functional enzymes, as well as native structural organization. This self-organization technique involves initial seeding of hepatocytes on a surface coated with adherent proteins (e.g., collagen or glycoproteins), which leads to the hepatocytes self-organizing into spheroid structures after several hours or days (30, 86). As this method uses an adherent coating for cell attachment, it is categorized as self-organization. Self-organizing liver tissues can reach up to 2.5 mm in diameter, and it has been shown that the size of these spheroids is linearly correlated with initial cell seeding concentration (87). Self-organizing liver tissues also possess several features of developing tissues, such as bile canalicular formation, abundant cell-to-cell communication, cuboidal hepatocyte morphology, and cell sorting (88-90). Additionally, self-organizing liver tissues secrete several functional proteins. Albumin secretion rates are equivalent to those of freshly isolated hepatocytes, and prolonged secretion of cytochrome P450 oxidation enzymes has also been reported (30). It has also been demonstrated that, on a per cell basis, self-organizing liver tissues can produce more α 1-antitrypsin than individual hepatocytes can and that urea and bile excretion into canaliculi occurs (91-93). Self-organizing liver tissues display a large variety of biochemical functions, and future research should investigate and enhance their translational potential.

Self-organization in tissue engineering is not synonymous with the self-assembling process in tissue engineering. In contrast to the self-assembling process, self-organization often requires external forces, manipulation, or seeding on an adherent surface. Continued research on selforganizing tissues, especially focused on the basic mechanisms by which these tissues form, is needed.

3.2. The Self-Assembling Process in Tissue Engineering

As explained earlier, the self-assembling process is separate from self-organization in tissue engineering. The self-assembling process for articular cartilage is a good example with which to describe the self-assembling process in tissue engineering because it has been reported to follow the characteristics of self-assembling tissues (**Figure 4**) (56). The first two characteristics of these tissues are (a) the ability to minimize free energy without the use of external forces and (b) a distinct set of phases reminiscent of those in native tissue development. The first phase in development



Figure 4

Different phases in the development of self-assembling articular cartilage.

of self-assembling articular cartilage is high-density seeding of articular chondrocytes in a nonadherent agarose well. The nonadherent agarose well used here prevents substrate adhesion and promotes the minimization of free energy via cell-to-cell interactions in the second phase (44). Instead of agarose, 2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate (94) and semipermeable membranes (95) have also been used as nonadherent substrates. In the second phase, the seeded articular chondrocytes express high levels of N-cadherin, which mediates cell-to-cell adhesion and tissue fusion, resulting in neotissue formation without the use of exogenous forces (56). In the third phase, collagen VI is produced throughout the self-assembling tissue, and high levels of the glycosaminoglycan (GAG) chondroitin-6-sulphate are synthesized. ECM maturation is the final vital step in cartilage formation, and self-assembling articular cartilage mimics this aspect of native tissue development. In the fourth phase, collagen VI localizes to the pericellular matrix as production of collagen II increases, and relative levels of chondroitin-6-sulphate and chondroitin-4-sulphate change to reproduce those seen during native cartilage development (56). Because collagens and GAGs confer tensile and compressive properties to native tissue, appropriate levels of these ECM components are tantamount to achieving adequate functional properties in engineered tissues.

Fibrocartilages such as the knee meniscus and temporomandibular joint (TMJ) disc are tissues whose shape is specific to their mechanical functions. The self-assembling process allows tissues to be grown in anatomically correct shapes. For fibrocartilage, analogous to self-assembling articular cartilage, high-density cocultures of chondrocytes and fibrochondrocytes can be seeded in ringshaped nonadherent agarose molds to form anatomically shaped menisci that maintain the wedge profile of native menisci (96). The generation of native tissue anisotropy is also possible with selfassembling tissue. For example, self-assembling fibrocartilage in an anatomically shaped mold displays a tensile modulus four times higher in the circumferential direction than in the radial direction (74). Moreover, self-assembling fibrocartilage displays mechanical properties on par with or approaching those of native tissue, with compressive instantaneous modulus values of up to 800 kPa and tensile stiffnesses of up to 3 MPa (96, 97). Similarly, in self-assembling articular cartilage, near-native levels of aggregate modulus and tensile stiffness (of 280 kPa and up to 2 MPa, respectively) have been attained (4, 98, 99). Self-assembling tissue may also be grown to clinically relevant sizes. Articular cartilage up to 6 mm in diameter and 3 mm in thickness and fibrocartilage up to 13 mm in diameter and 1.5 mm in thickness have been reported with this process (4, 96). Thus, the self-assembling process of articular cartilage and fibrocartilage represent significant advances in the emerging area of scaffoldless tissue engineering.

4. PROGRESS TOWARD CLINICAL APPLICATION OF SELF-ORGANIZING AND SELF-ASSEMBLING TISSUES

The ultimate focus of tissue engineering is to achieve clinical application of engineered tissues (e.g., cartilage, vasculature) and systems (e.g., musculoskeletal system, cardiovascular system). To reach clinical translation, engineered constructs should be easy to manufacture, preferably in a cost-effective fashion. They must also be able to integrate with native tissue and to remodel themselves accordingly. Additionally, they should match native tissue biomechanical and biochemical properties, in concordance with the recipient's age and immune system. Currently, several self-organizing and self-assembling tissues are in preclinical studies as well as clinical trials (**Figure 5**).

4.1. Preclinical Models

Self-organization and the self-assembling process in tissue engineering have shown promising outcomes in preclinical animal studies, which are fundamental to clinical translation.



Clinically relevant–sized constructs engineered by self-organization and the self-assembling process include (*a*) self-organizing cornea, (*b*) self-organizing vasculature, (*c*) self-assembling articular cartilage, and (*d*) self-assembling meniscus. Images reproduced with permission from References (*a*) 42, (*b*) 41, (*c*) 4, and (*d*) 96.

One example of this is in tissues such as tendons and ligaments, which, owing to their interfacial nature, have been the focus of research toward achieving integration between different tissue types—for example, tendon with muscle and ligament with bone. Because of the lack of an intervening scaffold, self-organizing tendon and ligament may have greater capacity to integrate with other tissues (100). For instance, 1 or 2 months of in vivo implantation of self-organizing bone-ligament-bone constructs in rat medial collateral ligament (MCL) defects shows appreciable gross and histological integration of bone to native bone and of ligament to native ligament, as well as greater mechanical integrity between ligament and bone (100). Similarly, 4-week implantation of self-organizing tendon in rat tibialis anterior tendon defects leads to tissue integration and mechanical properties on par with those of neonatal rat tibialis anterior tendons (66). Self-organizing tendon-muscle integration has also been accomplished, with these interfacial constructs withstanding loading at physiological strains (101, 102). Therefore, one advantage of self-organizing tissues is the ability to interface with other tissues.

Self-organizing and self-assembling tissues display maturation in the form of ECM production and organization, which is crucial for tissue function. Self-assembling articular cartilage implanted subcutaneously for 4 weeks in mice results in tissue maturation and enhanced tensile and compressive stiffness (4). It is believed that the high cellularity of self-assembling cartilage enables the neotissue to rapidly remodel and increase tensile and biochemical properties in vivo. Similarly, implanted self-organizing ligament also exhibits collagen alignment in the direction of native tissue, as well as elastin organization as seen in native ligaments (66). Additionally, following implantation, an average twofold increase in construct thickness and cross-sectional area was observed (100). Akin to ligament, implanted self-organizing tendon results in increases in collagen content and fibril diameter (66). Passaged chondrocytes from goats have been used to create constructs in custom bioreactors, under conditions that may fall under the umbrella of self-assembling articular cartilage (95). Implanted constructs were secured under periosteal flaps or adhesives. Without the periosteal flaps, most constructs became loose and were lost within the first month. However, for those that remained, after 2 months, tissues in the defects appeared hyaline-like (95). Further characterizations of mechanical and frictional properties for these constructs will provide additional evidence of their clinical usability. In general, self-organizing and self-assembling tissues demonstrate exciting potential in preclinical models, especially with regard to integration and maturation. However, further studies are necessary to explore these advantages and reach clinical translation.

4.2. Clinical Trials

Self-organizing vascular constructs are one of the most promising scaffoldless engineered tissues currently in preclinical and clinical studies. Initial successes with in vitro studies on cell-sheet engineering of human vascular tissue led to the development of self-organizing vascular constructs (27). These grafts are formed from age- and risk-matched human cells within a donor age range of 57 to 65, which in some cases reduces the risk of immunoglobulin-related immune response after implantation in a patient (77). In addition, these constructs recapitulate native vascular morphology and biological responses to relaxation and contraction stimuli, such as cyclic AMP and calcium ions (103, 104). In clinical trials with a high-risk human population (end-stage renal disease patients), patency rates of self-organizing grafts have been shown to be high, at 78% (1 month) and 60% (6 months) post implantation (77). Furthermore, preliminary assessments of vessel compliance reveal a beneficial 2.7–4.8-fold increase in some patients, indicating increased tissue elasticity after implantation (105). These grafts can also undergo devitalization and freezing, followed by rehydration, for later implantation into patients (106). This greatly increases their potential shelf life and thus clinical applicability. Because of these successes with early clinical application, self-organizing vasculature represents a model technology for clinical translation of tissue engineering.

Aside from vascular constructs, self-organizing cornea using a detachable cell sheet grown on a thermally responsive hydrogel (107) has also shown promising results in human trials (108). Implantation of self-organizing corneas in patients suffering from Salzmann's nodular degeneration led to significant improvements in gross transparency and visual acuity, as reported by patients (108). In corneal tissue engineering, epithelial-stromal interactions are important for the longterm survival of constructs in vivo (109). Accordingly, these self-organizing corneal constructs display an intrinsic ability to adhere to corneal stroma, representing an added clinical advantage, obviating the need for sutures during implantation. Furthermore, these constructs recapitulate native apical-basal cell and matrix organization (110). Despite these successes, however, further clinical trials and long-term follow-up studies are needed to explore the long-term safety and efficacy of these engineered tissues.

5. USE OF SELF-ORGANIZING AND SELF-ASSEMBLING TISSUES IN RESEARCH MODELS

In addition to clinical applications, self-organizing and self-assembling tissues have also been used as in vitro models to screen drugs and to study injury and disease. Producing a tissue model that duplicates in vivo human conditions represents a major challenge. Self-organizing and selfassembling tissues have the advantage of recapitulating the morphological structure and organization of native tissues. Furthermore, some of these tissues also mimic fundamental biological processes seen in vivo. Therefore, self-organization and the self-assembling process are promising tools to study tissue formation, behavior, and trauma.

Injury models, including wound healing in skin and cornea, as well as liver damage, represent one cogent application of self-organizing tissues. In vitro models of wound healing are limited by the absence of multiple epithelial cell layers and a lack of epithelial-mesenchymal interactions, characteristics that are both present in vivo (111). Accordingly, because of its multilayered structure, engineered cornea is a promising candidate for studying corneal wound healing (112). Indeed, the process of wound healing in self-organizing corneas is reminiscent of human cornea reepithelialization, displaying wavelike epithelial cell migration as well as laminin V and collagen VII production (113). Furthermore, accelerated wound healing after treatment with epidermal growth factor (EGF) and fibrin, as occurs with native tissue, was observed in these models (112). Similarly, liver spheroids have been used as in vitro models to screen drugs for liver injury (59). For example, cytochalasin D treatment affects spheroid formation and hepatocyte morphology in these tissues, resulting in fivefold lower albumin secretion. Therefore, self-organizing constructs can be used to study tissue injury.

Disease models can also be investigated using self-organizing and self-assembling tissues. For example, cardiac hypertrophy, which is a consequence of increased biomechanical stress, often leads to pathological conditions (114). To study this complex disease in vitro requires the recapitulation of structural and functional features of native cardiac tissues. Recently, self-organizing cardiac tissues have been used as in vitro tools to study the hypertrophic phenotype (115). Self-organizing cardiac tissue subjected to biomechanical stress in vitro successfully demonstrates structural remodeling, increased secretion of clinical hypertrophy markers such as atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP), and electrophysiological changes, as found in cardiac hypertrophy in vivo. Furthermore, clinically used pharmacological antihypertrophic treatments partially reversed this hypertrophic behavior, akin to what is observed in vivo (115). Though a relatively new technology, self-organizing tissues represent a platform technology that can be employed to provide in vitro analogs of in vivo disease conditions. Thus, further exploration of self-organizing and self-assembling tissues as research models may represent a promising area for future research.

6. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Self-organization in tissue engineering can be defined as a subset of techniques within scaffoldless tissue engineering that produce tissues that demonstrate spontaneous organization. The self-assembling process in tissue engineering is a separate subset within scaffoldless tissue engineering, defined as a technology that produces tissues that demonstrate spontaneous organization from the minimization of free energy through cell-to-cell interactions and without external forces.

Self-organization and the self-assembling process are promising tissue engineering approaches that have already shown great potential for engineering complex tissues with functional property values approaching those of native tissue. Of particular significance is the fact that some self-organizing tissues have already been used in clinical applications. For example, self-organizing engineered vascular constructs have been used in hemodialysis patients (35, 77, 104, 105), and self-organizing cornea constructs have achieved beneficial results in patients suffering from Salzmann's noduluar degeneration (85, 108, 110). In addition to this, self-organized hepatocyte spheroids have been used in pharmacological screening of drugs (59). Furthermore, self-assembling cartilage recapitulates sequential phases of development seen in native cartilage formation (44, 56). These recent key findings pave the way for engineering more complex tissues with greater biochemical and mechanical properties, and they encourage future research to enhance self-organization and the self-assembling process for wider use.

Future directions for research on self-organizing and self-assembling tissues should concentrate on achieving clinical application. Before this can occur, however, certain basic characteristics of these processes need to be obtained. Cell source needs are an especially important issue for selforganizing and self-assembling tissues, as these techniques are highly cell intensive. To alleviate this, cocultures including primary cells and stem cells should be explored (116, 117). Formation of complex tissues or structures using cell mixtures or cocultures brings forth additional issues. For instance, mixtures of cells, each expressing different adhesion molecules, need to be studied to understand what drives pattern formation and eventual fabrication of biomimetic structures. These adhesion molecules are often transient and dynamic, and, thus, computational models need to take this into account (118). Additionally, to understand the role of cytoskeleton contraction in self-assembling tissue, cell cortical tension and tissue surface tension should be quantified. This is made more difficult by the fact that cadherin-mediated cell-to-cell interaction influences cell cortical tension. These basic characterizations must be carried out to help identify suitable stimuli and conditions that can be employed in tissue engineering approaches using the self-assembling process and self-organization.

In general, tissue engineers should also continue to expand their repertoire of signals and stimuli. To date, tissue engineering studies have focused predominantly on the use of growth factors to enhance tissue. In the future, specialized bioreactors, and novel signaling agents such as catabolic enzymes, may lead to improvements in tissue functional properties (119). Similarly, continued identification of beneficial combinations of stimuli for self-organizing and self-assembling tissues is necessary (29, 30, 120, 121). Finally, the use of nondefined media components in tissue culture should be reduced. For instance, fetal bovine serum (FBS) often contains high concentrations of immunoglobulin and may trigger immune responses in human trials (122). To solve this, serum-free culture can eliminate such immunoglobulin-related immune response (123). Despite the relative dearth of basic characterization on the self-assembling process and self-organization, the results thus far suggest that these processes can be employed in promising manners to fabricate some of the most complex tissues and structures of the body, including articular cartilage, fibrocartilage, bone, tendon, ligament, vasculature, cardiac muscle, liver, nerve, and cornea.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We gratefully acknowledge support provided by the National Institutes of Health (R01DE015038, R01DE019666, R01AR053286, and R01AR061496), the Arthritis Foundation, NFL Charities, and the Howard Hughes Medical Institute.

LITERATURE CITED

- Sanchez-Adams J, Athanasiou KA. 2012. Regional effects of enzymatic digestion on knee meniscus cell yield and phenotype for tissue engineering. *Tissue Eng. Part C Methods* 18:235–43
- Sanchez-Adams J, Athanasiou KA. 2012. Dermis isolated adult stem cells for cartilage tissue engineering. Biomaterials 33:109–19
- Natoli RM, Skaalure S, Bijlani S, Chen KX, Hu J, Athanasiou KA. 2010. Intracellular Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ modulation increases the tensile properties of developing engineered articular cartilage. *Artbritis Rheum*. 62:1097–107

131

- Responte DJ, Arzi B, Natoli RM, Hu JC, Athanasiou KA. 2012. Mechanisms underlying the synergistic enhancement of self-assembled neocartilage treated with chondroitinase-ABC and TGF-β1. *Biomaterials* 33:3187–94
- Discher DE, Janmey P, Wang YL. 2005. Tissue cells feel and respond to the stiffness of their substrate. Science 310:1139–43
- Leong MF, Rasheed MZ, Lim TC, Chian KS. 2009. In vitro cell infiltration and in vivo cell infiltration and vascularization in a fibrous, highly porous poly(D,L-lactide) scaffold fabricated by cryogenic electrospinning technique. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A* 91:231–40
- Rosso F, Giordano A, Barbarisi M, Barbarisi A. 2004. From cell-ECM interactions to tissue engineering. *J. Cell Physiol.* 199:174–80
- Zhao X, Kim J, Cezar CA, Huebsch N, Lee K, et al. 2011. Active scaffolds for on-demand drug and cell delivery. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 108:67–72
- Huey DJ, Hu JC, Athanasiou KA. 2012. Unlike bone, cartilage regeneration remains elusive. Science 338:917–21
- 10. Liu X, Ma PX. 2004. Polymeric scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Ann. Biomed. Eng. 32:477-86
- Levy-Mishali M, Zoldan J, Levenberg S. 2009. Effect of scaffold stiffness on myoblast differentiation. *Tissue Eng. Part A* 15:935–44
- Bryant SJ, Anseth KS, Lee DA, Bader DL. 2004. Crosslinking density influences the morphology of chondrocytes photoencapsulated in PEG hydrogels during the application of compressive strain. *J. Orthop. Res.* 22:1143–49
- Zhang Z, McCaffery JM, Spencer RG, Francomano CA. 2004. Hyaline cartilage engineered by chondrocytes in pellet culture: histological, immunohistochemical and ultrastructural analysis in comparison with cartilage explants. *J. Anat.* 205:229–37
- Furukawa KS, Suenaga H, Toita K, Numata A, Tanaka J, et al. 2003. Rapid and large-scale formation of chondrocyte aggregates by rotational culture. *Cell Transplant*. 12:475–79
- Vunjak-Novakovic G, Martin I, Obradovic B, Treppo S, Grodzinsky AJ, et al. 1999. Bioreactor cultivation conditions modulate the composition and mechanical properties of tissue-engineered cartilage. *J. Orthop. Res.* 17:130–38
- Meredith JC, Sormana JL, Keselowsky BG, Garcia AJ, Tona A, et al. 2003. Combinatorial characterization of cell interactions with polymer surfaces. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A* 66:483–90
- Yoon DM, Fisher JP. 2006. Chondrocyte signaling and artificial matrices for articular cartilage engineering. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 585:67–86
- Barbero A, Grogan SP, Mainil-Varlet P, Martin I. 2006. Expansion on specific substrates regulates the phenotype and differentiation capacity of human articular chondrocytes. *J. Cell Biochem.* 98:1140–49
- Elder SH, Sanders SW, McCulley WR, Marr ML, Shim JW, Hasty KA. 2006. Chondrocyte response to cyclic hydrostatic pressure in alginate versus pellet culture. J. Orthop. Res. 24:740–47
- 20. Anderson JM. 2001. Biological responses to materials. Annu. Rev. Mater. Res. 31:81-110
- Jacobs HO, Tao AR, Schwartz A, Gracias DH, Whitesides GM. 2002. Fabrication of a cylindrical display by patterned assembly. *Science* 296:323–25
- Hartgerink JD, Beniash E, Stupp SI. 2001. Self-assembly and mineralization of peptide-amphiphile nanofibers. Science 294:1684–88
- 23. Whitesides GM, Grzybowski B. 2002. Self-assembly at all scales. Science 295:2418-21
- Mironov V, Visconti RP, Kasyanov V, Forgacs G, Drake CJ, Markwald RR. 2009. Organ printing: tissue spheroids as building blocks. *Biomaterials* 30:2164–74
- Eiraku M, Takata N, Ishibashi H, Kawada M, Sakakura E, et al. 2011. Self-organizing optic-cup morphogenesis in three-dimensional culture. *Nature* 472:51–56
- Youssef J, Nurse AK, Freund LB, Morgan JR. 2011. Quantification of the forces driving self-assembly of three-dimensional microtissues. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 108:6993–98
- Peck M, Gebhart D, Dusserre N, McAllister TN, L'Heureux N. 2012. The evolution of vascular tissue engineering and current state of the art. *Cells Tissues Organs* 195:144–58
- Jakab K, Norotte C, Marga F, Murphy K, Vunjak-Novakovic G, Forgacs G. 2010. Tissue engineering by self-assembly and bio-printing of living cells. *Biofabrication* 2:022001

- Baltich J, Hatch-Vallier L, Adams AM, Arruda EM, Larkin LM. 2010. Development of a scaffoldless three-dimensional engineered nerve using a nerve-fibroblast co-culture. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Anim.* 46:438–44
- Riccalton-Banks L, Liew C, Bhandari R, Fry J, Shakesheff K. 2003. Long-term culture of functional liver tissue: three-dimensional coculture of primary hepatocytes and stellate cells. *Tissue Eng.* 9:401–10
- Halley JD, Winkler DA. 2008. Consistent concepts of self-organization and self-assembly. *Complexity* 14:10–17
- John K, Bar M. 2005. Alternative mechanisms of structuring biomembranes: self-assembly versus selforganization. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 95:198101
- Calve S, Dennis RG, Kosnik PE II, Baar K, Grosh K, Arruda EM. 2004. Engineering of functional tendon. *Tissue Eng.* 10:755–61
- Smietana MJ, Syed-Picard FN, Ma J, Kostrominova T, Arruda EM, Larkin LM. 2009. The effect of implantation on scaffoldless three-dimensional engineered bone constructs. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Anim.* 45:512–22
- L'Heureux N, Paquet S, Labbe R, Germain L, Auger FA. 1998. A completely biological tissue-engineered human blood vessel. FASEB J. 12:47–56
- Nishida K, Yamato M, Hayashida Y, Watanabe K, Yamamoto K, et al. 2004. Corneal reconstruction with tissue-engineered cell sheets composed of autologous oral mucosal epithelium. N. Engl. J. Med. 351:1187–96
- Foty RA, Steinberg MS. 2005. The differential adhesion hypothesis: a direct evaluation. Dev. Biol. 278:255-63
- Pérez-Pomares JM, Foty RA. 2006. Tissue fusion and cell sorting in embryonic development and disease: biomedical implications. *BioEssays* 28:809–21
- Syed-Picard FN, Larkin LM, Shaw CM, Arruda EM. 2009. Three-dimensional engineered bone from bone marrow stromal cells and their autogenous extracellular matrix. *Tissue Eng. Part A* 15:187–95
- Paxton JZ, Grover LM, Baar K. 2010. Engineering an invitro model of a functional ligament from bone to bone. *Tissue Eng. Part A* 16:3515–25
- Norotte C, Marga FS, Niklason LE, Forgacs G. 2009. Scaffold-free vascular tissue engineering using bioprinting. *Biomaterials* 30:5910–17
- Proulx S, d'Arc Uwamaliya J, Carrier P, Deschambeault A, Audet C, et al. 2010. Reconstruction of a human cornea by the self-assembly approach of tissue engineering using the three native cell types. *Mol. Vis.* 16:2192–201
- Shimizu T, Yamato M, Kikuchi A, Okano T. 2003. Cell sheet engineering for myocardial tissue reconstruction. *Biomaterials* 24:2309–16
- Hu JC, Athanasiou KA. 2006. A self-assembling process in articular cartilage tissue engineering. *Tissue Eng.* 12:969–79
- Hoben GM, Hu JC, James RA, Athanasiou KA. 2007. Self-assembly of fibrochondrocytes and chondrocytes for tissue engineering of the knee meniscus. *Tissue Eng*. 13:939–46
- 46. Steinberg MS. 1970. Does differential adhesion govern self-assembly processes in histogenesis? Equilibrium configurations and the emergence of a hierarchy among populations of embryonic cells. *J. Exp. Zool.* 173:395–433
- Steinberg MS. 2007. Differential adhesion in morphogenesis: a modern view. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 17:281–86
- Krieg M, Arboleda-Estudillo Y, Puech PH, Kafer J, Graner F, et al. 2008. Tensile forces govern germlayer organization in zebrafish. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 10:429–36
- Brodland GW. 2002. The Differential Interfacial Tension Hypothesis (DITH): a comprehensive theory for the self-rearrangement of embryonic cells and tissues. *J. Biomech. Eng.* 124:188–97
- Harris AK. 1976. Is cell sorting caused by differences in the work of intercellular adhesion? A critique of the Steinberg hypothesis. *J. Theor. Biol.* 61:267–85
- Dean DM, Morgan JR. 2008. Cytoskeletal-mediated tension modulates the directed self-assembly of microtissues. *Tissue Eng. Part A* 14:1989–97
- 52. Berrier AL, Yamada KM. 2007. Cell-matrix adhesion. 7. Cell. Physiol. 213:565-73

- Maitre JL, Berthoumieux H, Krens SF, Salbreux G, Julicher F, et al. 2012. Adhesion functions in cell sorting by mechanically coupling the cortices of adhering cells. *Science* 338:253–56
- Evans E, Yeung A. 1989. Apparent viscosity and cortical tension of blood granulocytes determined by micropipet aspiration. *Biophys. J.* 56:151–60
- Amack JD, Manning ML. 2012. Knowing the boundaries: extending the differential adhesion hypothesis in embryonic cell sorting. *Science* 338:212–15
- Ofek G, Revell CM, Hu JC, Allison DD, Grande-Allen KJ, Athanasiou KA. 2008. Matrix development in self-assembly of articular cartilage. *PLoS One* 3:e2795
- Oberlender SA, Tuan RS. 1994. Spatiotemporal profile of N-cadherin expression in the developing limb mesenchyme. *Cell Commun. Adbes.* 2:521–37
- Kinoshita N, Sasai N, Misaki K, Yonemura S. 2008. Apical accumulation of Rho in the neural plate is important for neural plate cell shape change and neural tube formation. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 19:2289–99
- Tzanakakis ES, Hansen LK, Hu WS. 2001. The role of actin filaments and microtubules in hepatocyte spheroid self-assembly. *Cell Motil. Cytoskelet.* 48:175–89
- Dean DM, Morgan JR. 2008. Cytoskeletal-mediated tension modulates the directed self-assembly of microtissues. *Tissue Eng. Part A* 14:1989–97
- Brodland GW, Chen HH. 2000. The mechanics of heterotypic cell aggregates: insights from computer simulations. J. Biomech. Eng. 122:402–7
- Strohman RC, Bayne E, Spector D, Obinata T, Micou-Eastwood J, Maniotis A. 1990. Myogenesis and histogenesis of skeletal muscle on flexible membranes in vitro. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol.* 26:201–8
- Hairfield-Stein M, England C, Paek HJ, Gilbraith KB, Dennis R, et al. 2007. Development of selfassembled, tissue-engineered ligament from bone marrow stromal cells. *Tissue Eng*. 13:703–10
- Huang YC, Dennis RG, Larkin L, Baar K. 2005. Rapid formation of functional muscle in vitro using fibrin gels. J. Appl. Physiol. 98:706–13
- Pirraco RP, Obokata H, Iwata T, Marques AP, Tsuneda S, et al. 2011. Development of osteogenic cell sheets for bone tissue engineering applications. *Tissue Eng. Part A* 17:1507–15
- Calve S, Lytle IF, Grosh K, Brown DL, Arruda EM. 2010. Implantation increases tensile strength and collagen content of self-assembled tendon constructs. J. Appl. Physiol. 108:875–81
- Huang YC, Dennis RG, Baar K. 2006. Cultured slow versus fast skeletal muscle cells differ in physiology and responsiveness to stimulation. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 291:C11–17
- Donnelly K, Khodabukus A, Philp A, Deldicque L, Dennis RG, Baar K. 2010. A novel bioreactor for stimulating skeletal muscle in vitro. *Tissue Eng. Part C Methods* 16:711–18
- Ma D, Ren L, Liu Y, Chen F, Zhang J, et al. 2010. Engineering scaffold-free bone tissue using bone marrow stromal cell sheets. *J. Orthop. Res.* 28:697–702
- Hildebrandt C, Buth H, Thielecke H. 2011. A scaffold-free in vitro model for osteogenesis of human mesenchymal stem cells. *Tissue Cell* 43:91–100
- Fyhrie DP, Vashishth D. 2000. Bone stiffness predicts strength similarly for human vertebral cancellous bone in compression and for cortical bone in tension. *Bone* 26:169–73
- 72. Gauvin R, Ahsan T, Larouche D, Levesque P, Dube J, et al. 2010. A novel single-step self-assembly approach for the fabrication of tissue-engineered vascular constructs. *Tissue Eng. Part A* 16:1737–47
- 73. Mironov V, Kasyanov V. 2009. Emergence of clinical vascular tissue engineering. Lancet 373:1402-4
- Aufderheide AC, Athanasiou KA. 2007. Assessment of a bovine co-culture, scaffold-free method for growing meniscus-shaped constructs. *Tissue Eng.* 13:2195–205
- Gwyther TA, Hu JZ, Christakis AG, Skorinko JK, Shaw SM, et al. 2011. Engineered vascular tissue fabricated from aggregated smooth muscle cells. *Cells Tissues Organs* 194:13–24
- Gwyther TA, Hu JZ, Billiar KL, Rolle MW. 2011. Directed cellular self-assembly to fabricate cellderived tissue rings for biomechanical analysis and tissue engineering. J. Vis. Exp. (57):e3366
- McAllister TN, Maruszewski M, Garrido SA, Wystrychowski W, Dusserre N, et al. 2009. Effectiveness
 of haemodialysis access with an autologous tissue-engineered vascular graft: a multicentre cohort study. *Lancet* 373:1440–46
- Haraguchi Y, Shimizu T, Sasagawa T, Sekine H, Sakaguchi K, et al. 2012. Fabrication of functional three-dimensional tissues by stacking cell sheets in vitro. *Nat. Protoc.* 7:850–58

- Yang X, Mironov V, Wang Q. 2012. Modeling fusion of cellular aggregates in biofabrication using phase field theories. J. Theor. Biol. 303:110–18
- Baar K, Birla R, Boluyt MO, Borschel GH, Arruda EM, Dennis RG. 2005. Self-organization of rat cardiac cells into contractile 3-D cardiac tissue. FASEB J. 19:275–77
- Kelm JM, Ehler E, Nielsen LK, Schlatter S, Perriard JC, Fussenegger M. 2004. Design of artificial myocardial microtissues. *Tissue Eng.* 10:201–14
- Adams AM, Arruda EM, Larkin LM. 2012. Use of adipose-derived stem cells to fabricate scaffoldless tissue-engineered neural conduits in vitro. *Neuroscience* 201:349–56
- Griffith M, Jackson WB, Lagali N, Merrett K, Li F, Fagerholm P. 2009. Artificial corneas: a regenerative medicine approach. *Eye (Lond.)* 23:1985–89
- Rothermel A, Biedermann T, Weigel W, Kurz R, Ruffer M, et al. 2005. Artificial design of threedimensional retina-like tissue from dissociated cells of the mammalian retina by rotation-mediated cell aggregation. *Tissue Eng.* 11:1749–56
- Zhang W, Xiao J, Li C, Wan P, Liu Y, et al. 2011. Rapidly constructed scaffold-free cornea epithelial sheets for ocular surface reconstruction. *Tissue Eng. Part C Methods* 17:569–77
- Koide N, Sakaguchi K, Koide Y, Asano K, Kawaguchi M, et al. 1990. Formation of multicellular spheroids composed of adult rat hepatocytes in dishes with positively charged surfaces and under other nonadherent environments. *Exp. Cell Res.* 186:227–35
- Torisawa YS, Takagi A, Nashimoto Y, Yasukawa T, Shiku H, Matsue T. 2007. A multicellular spheroid array to realize spheroid formation, culture, and viability assay on a chip. *Biomaterials* 28:559–66
- Landry J, Bernier D, Ouellet C, Goyette R, Marceau N. 1985. Spheroidal aggregate culture of rat liver cells: histotypic reorganization, biomatrix deposition, and maintenance of functional activities. *J. Cell Biol.* 101:914–23
- Fukuda J, Sakai Y, Nakazawa K. 2006. Novel hepatocyte culture system developed using microfabrication and collagen/polyethylene glycol microcontact printing. *Biomaterials* 27:1061–70
- Hansen LK, Hsiao CG, Friend JR, Wu FJ, Bridge GA, et al. 1998. Enhanced morphology and function in hepatocyte spheroids: a model of tissue self-assembly. *Tissue Eng.* 4:65–74
- Ohashi K, Yokoyama T, Yamato M, Kuge H, Kanehiro H, et al. 2007. Engineering functional two- and three-dimensional liver systems in vivo using hepatic tissue sheets. *Nat. Med.* 13:880–85
- Meng Q, Wu D, Zhang G, Qiu H. 2006. Direct self-assembly of hepatocytes spheroids within hollow fibers in presence of collagen. *Biotechnol. Lett.* 28:279–84
- Abu-Absi SF, Friend JR, Hansen LK, Hu WS. 2002. Structural polarity and functional bile canaliculi in rat hepatocyte spheroids. *Exp. Cell Res.* 274:56–67
- Novotny JE, Turka CM, Jeong C, Wheaton AJ, Li C, et al. 2006. Biomechanical and magnetic resonance characteristics of a cartilage-like equivalent generated in a suspension culture. *Tissue Eng.* 12:2755–64
- Brehm W, Aklin B, Yamashita T, Rieser F, Trub T, et al. 2006. Repair of superficial osteochondral defects with an autologous scaffold-free cartilage construct in a caprine model: implantation method and short-term results. *Osteoarthr. Cartil.* 14:1214–26
- Huey DJ, Athanasiou KA. 2011. Maturational growth of self-assembled, functional menisci as a result of TGF-β1 and enzymatic chondroitinase-ABC stimulation. *Biomaterials* 32:2052–58
- 97. Huey DJ, Athanasiou KA. 2011. Tension-compression loading with chemical stimulation results in additive increases to functional properties of anatomic meniscal constructs. *PLoS One* 6:e27857
- Elder BD, Athanasiou KA. 2008. Synergistic and additive effects of hydrostatic pressure and growth factors on tissue formation. *PLoS One* 3:e2341
- Elder BD, Athanasiou KA. 2009. Effects of temporal hydrostatic pressure on tissue-engineered bovine articular cartilage constructs. *Tissue Eng. Part A* 15:1151–58
- Ma J, Goble K, Smietana M, Kostrominova T, Larkin L, Arruda EM. 2009. Morphological and functional characteristics of three-dimensional engineered bone-ligament-bone constructs following implantation. *J. Biomech. Eng.* 131:101017
- Kostrominova TY, Calve S, Arruda EM, Larkin LM. 2009. Ultrastructure of myotendinous junctions in tendon-skeletal muscle constructs engineered in vitro. *Histol. Histopathol.* 24:541–50
- Larkin LM, Calve S, Kostrominova TY, Arruda EM. 2006. Structure and functional evaluation of tendonskeletal muscle constructs engineered in vitro. *Tissue Eng.* 12:3149–58

- L'Heureux N, Stoclet JC, Auger FA, Lagaud GJ, Germain L, Andriantsitohaina R. 2001. A human tissueengineered vascular media: a new model for pharmacological studies of contractile responses. *FASEB J*. 15:515–24
- 104. L'Heureux N, Dusserre N, Marini A, Garrido S, de la Fuente L, McAllister T. 2007. Technology insight: the evolution of tissue-engineered vascular grafts-from research to clinical practice. *Nat. Clin. Pract. Cardiovasc. Med.* 4:389–95
- L'Heureux N, McAllister TN, de la Fuente LM. 2007. Tissue-engineered blood vessel for adult arterial revascularization. N. Engl. J. Med. 357:1451–53
- 106. Wystrychowski W, Cierpka L, Zagalski K, Garrido S, Dusserre N, et al. 2011. Case study: first implantation of a frozen, devitalized tissue-engineered vascular graft for urgent hemodialysis access. J. Vasc. Access 12:67–70
- 107. Yang J, Yamato M, Nishida K, Ohki T, Kanzaki M, et al. 2006. Cell delivery in regenerative medicine: the cell sheet engineering approach. *J. Control. Release* 116:193–203
- Nishida K, Yamato M, Hayashida Y, Watanabe K, Yamamoto K, et al. 2004. Corneal reconstruction with tissue-engineered cell sheets composed of autologous oral mucosal epithelium. N. Engl. J. Med. 351:1187–96
- 109. Nishida K. 2003. Tissue engineering of the cornea. Cornea 22:S28-34
- Nishida K, Yamato M, Hayashida Y, Watanabe K, Maeda N, et al. 2004. Functional bioengineered corneal epithelial sheet grafts from corneal stem cells expanded ex vivo on a temperature-responsive cell culture surface. *Transplantation* 77:379–85
- 111. Zieske JD. 2001. Extracellular matrix and wound healing. Curr. Opin. Ophthalmol. 12:237-41
- 112. Carrier P, Deschambeault A, Talbot M, Giasson CJ, Auger FA, et al. 2008. Characterization of wound reepithelialization using a new human tissue-engineered corneal wound healing model. *Investig. Oph-thalmol. Vis. Sci.* 49:1376–85
- Dua HS, Forrester JV. 1987. Clinical patterns of corneal epithelial wound healing. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 104:481–89
- 114. Hardt SE, Sadoshima J. 2004. Negative regulators of cardiac hypertrophy. Cardiovasc. Res. 63:500-9
- Chung CY, Bien H, Sobie EA, Dasari V, McKinnon D, et al. 2011. Hypertrophic phenotype in cardiac cell assemblies solely by structural cues and ensuing self-organization. *FASEB 7*. 25:851–62
- Koay EJ, Athanasiou KA. 2009. Development of serum-free, chemically defined conditions for human embryonic stem cell-derived fibrochondrogenesis. *Tissue Eng. Part A* 15:2249–57
- 117. Zhang B, Yang S, Sun Z, Zhang Y, Xia T, et al. 2011. Human mesenchymal stem cells induced by growth differentiation factor 5: an improved self-assembly tissue engineering method for cartilage repair. *Tissue Eng. Part C Methods* 17:1189–99
- Neagu A, Kosztin I, Jakab K, Barz B, Neagu M, et al. 2006. Computational modeling of tissue selfassembly. *Mod. Phys. Lett. B* 20:1217–31
- Natoli RM, Revell CM, Athanasiou KA. 2009. Chondroitinase ABC treatment results in greater tensile properties of self-assembled tissue-engineered articular cartilage. *Tissue Eng. Part A* 15:3119–28
- Hoben GM, Willard VP, Athanasiou KA. 2009. Fibrochondrogenesis of hESCs: growth factor combinations and cocultures. *Stem Cells Dev.* 18:283–92
- 121. Carrier P, Deschambeault A, Audet C, Talbot M, Gauvin R, et al. 2009. Impact of cell source on human cornea reconstructed by tissue engineering. *Investig. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 50:2645–52
- 122. Asher DM. 1999. The transmissible spongiform encephalopathy agents: concerns and responses of United States regulatory agencies in maintaining the safety of biologics. *Dev. Biol. Stand.* 100:103–18
- 123. Wystrychowski W, Cierpka L, Zagalski K, Garrido S, Dusserre N, et al. 2011. Case study: first implantation of a frozen, devitalized tissue-engineered vascular graft for urgent hemodialysis access. J. Vasc. Access 12:67–70

A

Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering

Volume 15, 2013

Contents

Topology and Dynamics of Signaling Networks: In Search of Transcriptional Control of the Inflammatory Response <i>Ioannis P. Androulakis, Kubra Kamisoglu, and John S. Mattick</i>	. 1
Engineered Culture Models for Studies of Tumor-Microenvironment Interactions David W. Infanger, Maureen E. Lynch, and Claudia Fischbach	29
Systems Biology Characterization of Engineered Tissues Padmavathy Rajagopalan, Simon Kasif, and T.M. Murali	55
Atlas-Based Neuroinformatics via MRI: Harnessing Information from Past Clinical Cases and Quantitative Image Analysis for Patient Care <i>Susumu Mori, Kenichi Oishi, Andreia V. Faria, and Michael I. Miller</i>	71
Replacing Antibodies: Engineering New Binding Proteins Scott Banta, Kevin Dooley, and Oren Shur	93
Self-Organization and the Self-Assembling Process in Tissue Engineering <i>Kyriacos A. Athanasiou, Rajalakshmanan Eswaramoorthy, Pasha Hadidi,</i> <i>and Jerry C. Hu</i>	15
Multiscale Computational Models of Complex Biological Systems Joseph Walpole, Jason A. Papin, and Shayn M. Peirce	37
Biophysical Cues and Cell Behavior: The Big Impact of Little Things Joshua Z. Gasiorowski, Christopher J. Murphy, and Paul F. Nealey	55
The Pivotal Role of Vascularization in Tissue Engineering François A. Auger, Laure Gibot, and Dan Lacroix	77
Functional Attachment of Soft Tissues to Bone: Development, Healing, and Tissue Engineering <i>Helen H. Lu and Stavros Thomopoulos</i>	01
Mechanics in Neuronal Development and Repair Kristian Franze, Paul A. Janmey, and Jochen Guck	27

Multifunctional Nanoparticles for Drug Delivery and Molecular Imaging Gang Bao, Samir Mitragotri, and Sheng Tong	. 253
Microfluidics and Coagulation Biology <i>Thomas V. Colace, Garth W. Tormoen, Owen J.T. McCarty,</i> <i>and Scott L. Diamond</i>	. 283
Micro- and Nanoscale Engineering of Cell Signaling L.C. Kam, K. Shen, and M.L. Dustin	. 305
Breast Image Analysis for Risk Assessment, Detection, Diagnosis, and Treatment of Cancer <i>Maryellen L. Giger, Nico Karssemeijer, and Julia A. Schnabel</i>	. 327
eHealth: Extending, Enhancing, and Evolving Health Care Carlos A. Meier, Maria C. Fitzgerald, and Joseph M. Smith	. 359
Sensors and Decoding for Intracortical Brain Computer Interfaces Mark L. Homer, Arto V. Nurmikko, John P. Donoghue, and Leigh R. Hochberg	. 383
Exploring Neural Cell Dynamics with Digital Holographic Microscopy P. Marquet, C. Depeursinge, and P.J. Magistretti	. 407
Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance: Deeper Insights Through Bioengineering A.A. Young and J.L. Prince	. 433

Indexes

Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 6–15	. 463
Cumulative Index of Article Titles, Volumes 6–15	. 467

Errata

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering* articles may be found at http://bioeng.annualreviews.org/